FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/24/2023
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/23/2023 2:39 PM

No. 101832-1

No. 84242-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION I

FITNESS INTERNATIONAL, LLC, a California limited liability
company,

Petitioner,

v.

NATIONAL RETAIL PROPERTIES, LP, a Delaware limited
liability company,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Christopher M. Huck, WSBA No. 34104
R. Omar Riojas, WSBA No. 35400
GOLDFARB & HUCK ROTH RIOJAS, PLLC
925 Fourth Avenue, Ste. 3950
Seattle, Washington 98104
Telephone: (206) 452-0260
Facsimile: (206) 397-3062
E-mail: huck@goldfarb-huck.com
riojas@goldfarb-huck.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Fitness International, LLC (“Tenant”) respectfully asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Tenant seeks review of the February 21, 2023 published decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, (“Decision”) that affirmed the trial court’s order granting summary judgment and dismissing Tenant’s claims against respondent National Retail Properties, LP (“Landlord”). A copy of the Decision is in the Appendix at Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether this Court should accept review of the Decision under RAP 13.4(b)(4), because review provides an opportunity for this Court to modernize application of equitable doctrines, including adoption of Restatement (Second) of Contracts §§ 269, 270, and 272 (1981), which concern temporary frustration of purpose, the adoption of which will properly equip

Washington courts with a full set of tools to answer continued questions due to the COVID-19 global pandemic and likely future challenges based on any new global pandemic or, for example, inevitable disruptions as a result of climate change.

2. Whether this Court should accept review of the Decision pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1), because it conflicts with decisions of this Court regarding contract interpretation and summary judgment procedure.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Lease Concerns Operation of a Health Club.

“This case involves ... a health club in a shopping complex at 15707 Pacific Avenue South in Tacoma” (the “Premises”). CP 33. Tenant and Landlord are parties to a Land and Building Lease Agreement dated July 2, 2015, as amended (the “Lease”), under which Tenant leases the Premises from Landlord. CP 98-195.

At the most basic level, the purpose of the Lease is for Tenant to pay rent to Landlord for the right to use the Premises

for the operation of Tenant's health club. *See* Lease § 9.1 (CP 111) ("Tenant may use the Premises ('Initial Uses') for the operation of a health club and fitness facility....").

The Lease is anything but a garden-variety lease that happens to concern use of space for fitness center purposes. Rather, the Lease was merely one component of a larger transaction, covering the acquisition, development, and use of the subject facility, which, from its inception, was conducted towards one and only one purpose: construction and operation of a health club and fitness facility. CP 164-195; 238-261.

Specifically, before the parties' agreements, the subject property was a vacant 3.77-acre parcel of land owned by a third-party developer. CP 106. Tenant brought in Landlord as a development partner, and the parties ultimately entered into what is known as a "reverse build-to-suit" transaction. CP 230. In brief:

Tenant assigned its rights under the Purchase and Sale agreement to Landlord, who acquired the property under its own name. CP 233.

Tenant, with Landlord's consent, then oversaw development of the property into a health center and fitness facility. CP 241-61. Such development was governed by a Development Procedure Agreement (entered into the same day as the Lease, July 2, 2015 (the "Development Agreement") (CP 241)), which was also incorporated into the subject Lease. CP 106.

Under the Development Agreement, the "Improvements" to the Premises were constructed, under Tenant's management, as an "LA Fitness" health club and fitness facility. CP 241; CP-256-257. For example, the architectural plans appended into the Development Agreement depict what is obviously a health club and fitness facility, including a swimming pool, basketball/sports court, locker rooms, and areas for fitness equipment. CP 255.

Accordingly, as understood and acknowledged by the

parties from the outset, the sole purpose of the Lease was Tenant's use of the Premises for the operation of a health club and fitness facility, and Tenant would not have executed the Lease or the Development Agreement, or constructed the improvements if it did not have the right to use the Premises for the operation of a health club and fitness facility throughout the entire term of the Lease. CP 230.

B. The COVID-19 Pandemic Made It Illegal for Tenant to Use the Premises.

On March 13, 2020, President Trump issued a proclamation declaring a national emergency concerning the COVID-19 outbreak. CP 203-04.

On March 16, 2020, Governor Inslee ordered all non-essential businesses, including gyms and fitness centers, to immediately cease operating to prevent the perceived spread of COVID-19. *Id.*

On March 23, 2020, Governor Inslee issued the "Stay Home, Stay Healthy" order. *Id.*

On May 1, 2020, Governor Inslee's "Stay Home, Stay

Healthy” order was extended until May 31, 2020. The governor also announced a plan to resume Washington’s economic and social life over four phases. *Id.*

Thus, for two separate periods, from (i) March 17, 2020 to August 9, 2020 and (ii) November 16, 2020 to January 10, 2021 (the “Closure Periods”) it was illegal for Tenant to use the entirety of the Premises for the Lease’s sole stated purpose as a health club and fitness facility. CP 229-30.

During the Closure Periods, Tenant did not generate any revenue as it did not collect any dues, fees, or monetary payments from its members. CP 230. In addition, Tenant suffered a substantial loss of its memberships since it was illegal to operate its business. *Id.*

Despite it being illegal to use the Premises during the Closure Periods and Tenant being unable to operate a health club at the Premises, and in the face of the COVID-19 global pandemic, Landlord demanded that Tenant pay full rent. CP 230.

Accordingly, under protest, Tenant paid alleged rent for the months of March 2020 through November 2020. *Id.*¹

When Tenant has been allowed to legally use the Premises, it has timely paid rent, starting in February 2021 through the present. CP 230. Thus, it is *not* the case that Tenant occupies the Premises rent-free. Rather, this action concerns whether, under the circumstances here and pursuant to Washington law, rent is due for the seven months in which it was illegal for Tenant to use the entire Premises due to government orders in connection with the unprecedented COVID-19 global pandemic.

C. Procedural History.

On November 17, 2020, Tenant filed a complaint against Landlord. CP 1.

Tenant asserted four causes of action against Landlord: (1) breach of Lease based on Landlord's breach of representations,

¹ However, Tenant did not pay rent in December 2020 and January 2021, when the Premises was subject to the second Closure Period.

warranties and covenants; (2) breach of Lease due to Landlord's failure to provide credits under the Lease; (3) breach of Lease related to Landlord's failure to abate rent; and (4) a declaratory judgment that Tenant was not obligated to pay alleged rent during the Closure Periods because (a) Tenant was excused; (b) the purpose of the Lease was frustrated; and (c) Tenant's performance under the Lease was impracticable and/or impossible. CP 8-12.

On January 1, 2021, Landlord filed its Answer and Counterclaims. CP 15. Landlord asserted Counterclaims for "Breach of Lease" and "Unjust Enrichment," seeking alleged rent owed for December 2020 and January 2021. CP 22-24.

On July 16, 2021, Landlord filed a motion for summary judgment ("SJ Motion"). CP 31. The SJ Motion requested "(i) dismissal of Fitness International's first three causes of action; (ii) summary declaratory judgment against Fitness International as to its fourth cause of action; and (iii) summary judgment for

unpaid rent and prejudgment interest on National Retail's counterclaim." CP 33.

At the time of the SJ Motion, discovery was incomplete. Landlord's responses to Tenant's first set of discovery requests were due on August 16, 2021. CP 205; 230. No depositions had been conducted. CP 205.

On August 13, 2021, the trial court held oral argument on the SJ Motion. RP (August 13, 2021). During the hearing, the trial court requested supplemental briefing on two issues: the distinctions between a covenant and a warranty, and the summary judgment standard. *Id.* at 51-55.

On September 22, 2021, the trial court entered its Order Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment ("SJ Order"). CP 326-28.

In a published opinion, Division I affirmed.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. The Court Should Grant Review to Update Application of Equitable Doctrines, Including Consideration of Whether Washington Should Adopt the Equitable Doctrine of Temporary Frustration of Purpose.

Three years ago, the world changed. Forever. The COVID-19 global pandemic and its disruption of everyday life was unanticipated and unprecedented in modern history. But Washington courts have not been fully equipped to properly adjudicate contractual disputes related to the COVID-19 pandemic, relying on antiquated law concerning application of equitable doctrines. For example, with respect to frustration of purpose, the Decision relies on a *1911* decision from this Court.

This petition, therefore, concerns issues of substantial public interest, because it provides an opportunity for the Court to modernize precedent and equip Washington courts with a full and updated toolset of equitable doctrines to tackle ongoing disputes related to COVID-19 and likely future pandemics, and inevitable disruption caused by other factors such as climate

change. As discussed below, Tenant respectfully requests the Court to accept review of the Decision for several reasons.

1. Whether this Court Should Consider Adoption of Restatement (Second) of Contracts §§ 269, 270, and 272 Is an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

Review provides an opportunity for the Court to consider adoption of Restatement (Second) of Contracts §§ 269, 270, and 272 (1981), which concern temporary frustration of purpose. Under the doctrine of temporary frustration of purpose, frustration of purpose “that is only temporary *suspends* the obligor’s duty to perform” but the duty to perform *resumes* once the frustration ends. Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 269 (1981) (emphasis added).

Tenant requested the Court of Appeals to adopt Restatement (Second) of Contracts §§ 269, 270, and 272, including at oral argument. In fact, Landlord admitted that the doctrine of temporary frustration of purpose applies here: “The most one could say here is that the government’s public health orders temporarily frustrated Fitness International’s purpose.

The doctrine of temporary frustration of purpose suspends performance.” CP 262. Yet the Court of Appeals, in the Decision, wholly ignored Tenant’s request and Landlord’s admission, and failed to discuss whatsoever *why* the doctrine of temporary frustration of purpose does or does not apply here. Decision at pp. 11-15.

Whether this Court adopts Restatement (Second) of Contracts §§ 269, 270, and 272 has implications not only for larger companies like Tenant, but also for small businesses, many of which are family-owned, who fell behind on rent during the closure periods, and are still in dispute with landlords. “Pandemic pivots” during the closure periods were often not realistic, as many consumer-facing businesses—large and small—focus on a single type of service, product, or market, and often have fewer financial resources.² Tenant, while a larger

² See Paul Roberts, “The deepening economic divide: How the pandemic has hurt small businesses,” *The Seattle Times* (March 28, 2021), <https://www.seattletimes.com/business/economy/the-deepening-economic-divide-how-the-pandemic-has-hurt-small-businesses/> (last visited March 23, 2023) (discussing challenges

company with more resources, was similarly not poised to do a quick pivot during the closure periods. Nor should it have been. As the record shows, the premises were built out specifically for the purpose of operating a full-service fitness facility, equipped with a pool, locker rooms, and other specialized amenities. CP 255.

But the Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that Tenant “could for example, use the premises to create online classes, sell take-away food, beverages, and goods.” Decision at p. 14. Respectfully, the Decision is unreasonable, because no reasonable businessperson would dispute that converting a property built-out for a *specific* purpose to provide *different* services and/or goods, obtaining necessary equipment and licenses (to prepare and “sell take-away food”, for example), and

faced by small businesses during closure periods and the subsequent impact on the vitality of those businesses; noting that “when COVID-19 struck, Black and Latino-owned businesses were even less likely to have the reserves to weather losses or to pivot to new products”).

embarking on a new marketing campaign takes substantial time and resources.

Indeed, Tenant submitted *unrebutted* evidence that, during the Closure Periods, Tenant was unable to earn *any* revenue from the Premises. CP 230. It was also undisputed that Tenant suffered substantial loss of its membership since it was illegal to operate its business during the Closure Periods. CP 230.

Accordingly, adoption and application of the doctrine of temporary frustration of purpose would allow Washington courts to fashion an appropriate equitable remedy not only for Tenant but also for *current* and *future* similarly situated litigants. *See, e.g., Proctor v. Huntington*, 169 Wn.2d 491, 503, 238 P.3d 1117 (2010) (“[T]he essence of the court’s equity power ... is inherently flexible and fact-specific.”); *Vasquez v. Hawthorne*, 145 Wn.2d 103, 107, 33 P.3d 735 (2001) (“When equitable claims are brought, the focus remains on the equities involved between the parties.”); Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 272(2) (1981) (“In any case governed by the rules stated in this

Chapter, if those rules together with the rules stated in Chapter 16 will not avoid injustice, *the court may grant relief on such terms as justice requires* including protection of the parties' reliance interests.") (emphasis added).

2. Adopting Sections 269, 270, and 272 Is Consistent with This Court's Long-Standing Practice of Relying on the Restatement (Second) of Contracts to "Regularize" Washington Contract Law for the Public's Benefit.

The Restatement (Second) of Contracts underlies and informs modern contract law in Washington. On several occasions, this Court has adopted sections of the Restatement in recognition that "[t]he [S]econd Restatement [of Contracts] provides a convenient and effective means of clarifying and regularizing Washington" contract law. *Eastlake Constr. Co., Inc. v. Hess*, 102 Wn.2d 30, 32, 46, 686 P.2d 465 (1984) (adopting Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 348, "Alternatives to Loss in Value of Performance" as "the appropriate formulation of damages" in a case involving "breach of a construction contract resulting in both remediable and

irremediable defects”); *see also Storti v. Univ. of Wash.*, 181 Wn.2d 28, 38, 330 P.3d 159 (2014) (adopting Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 45 regarding option contracts and substantial performance; “because contract law in this state generally tracks national common law, we now adopt the Restatement approach”); *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 666-67, 801 P.2d 222 (1990) (adopting Restatement (Second) of Contracts §§ 212, 214(c) regarding admissibility of extrinsic evidence “as an aid in ascertaining the parties’ intent” regarding “the entire circumstances under which the contract was made”; noting that other courts have adopted the “context rule” and citing cases); *Washington State Hop Producers, Inc., Liquidation Tr. v. Goschie Farms, Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 694, 701, 773 P.2d 70 (1989) (“Washington has not before now adopted the doctrine of supervening frustration as recited in Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 265 (1979).”).³

³ *Accord Baffin Land Corp. v. Monticello Motor Inn, Inc.*, 70 Wn.2d 893, 899, 425 P.2d 623 (1967) (adopting “most significant relationship” choice of law rule for contract cases,

As far as Tenant is aware, no state appellate court has affirmatively adopted Restatement (Second) of Contracts §§ 269, 270, and 272 in response to the COVID-19 global pandemic. The Court should accept review so that Washington may lead the way. In any event, Washington should join other non-Washington appellate courts that have adopted Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 269. *See, e.g., Maudlin v. Pac. Decision Scis. Corp.*, 137 Cal. App. 4th 1001, 1017, 40 Cal. Rptr. 3d 724 (2006) (“The obligation to perform is not excused or discharged by a temporary impossibility—it is merely suspended—unless the delayed performance becomes materially more burdensome or the temporary impossibility becomes permanent. ... California law on temporary impossibility mirrors the Restatement Second of Contracts, section 269.”); *Nash v. Bd. of*

relying on (then-draft) Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws § 332; rejecting “lex loci contractus” rule and explaining that “lex loci contractus is an unfortunately outstanding example of a rule *which, in our modern multistate commercialism, has outlasted any usefulness it may ever have had, if it ever had any*”) (emphasis added).

Ed., Union Free Sch. Dist. No. 13, Town of Islip, 38 N.Y.2d 686, 689, 345 N.E.2d 575 (1976) (citing Section 289 of Tentative Draft 9 which is now Section 269; holding “[t]his is because the giving of notice by that date, although not literally impossible, would have been frustrative of the notice provisions of the collective agreement and of the statutory purpose in extending petitioner's probation, and thus contrary to his benefit.”).

3. Accepting Review Would Allow the Court to Update Precedent Concerning Equitable Doctrines.

Application of equitable doctrines currently requires Washington courts to rely on antiquated law. For example, with respect to frustration of purpose, the Decision relies on law from this Court in 1911 and 1917 related to prohibition. See Decision at p. 13 (citing *Hayton v. Seattle Brewing & Malting Co.*, 66 Wash. 248, 119 P. 739 (1911); *Brunswick-Balke-Collender Co. v. Seattle Brewing & Malting Co.*, 98 Wash. 12, 167 P. 58 (1917)).

Similarly, *Felt v. McCarthy*, 130 Wn.2d 203, 922 P.2d 90 (1996), is the most recent case from this Court concerning the

frustration of purpose doctrine—*i.e.*, Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 265 (1981). *Felt* was issued nearly 30 years ago.

The frustration of purpose doctrine has also been addressed by this Court in *Washington State Hop Producers, Inc., Liquidation Tr. v. Goschie Farms, Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 694, 773 P.2d 70 (1989) and *Weyerhaeuser v. Stoneway Concrete, Inc.*, 96 Wn.2d 558, 637 P.2d 647 (1981). That is to say, in opinions that are over 30 and 40 years old.

Thus, regardless of whether the Court ultimately recognizes temporary frustration of purpose, accepting review here will provide the Court with a rare opportunity to consider and clarify application of the frustration of purpose doctrine under contemporary circumstances, to guide Washington courts and litigants in the coming years. *See Baffin*, 70 Wn.2d at 898 (“Too often courts justify decisions simply by stating in effect, as Justice Holmes observed, ‘(s)o it was in the time of Henry IV.’” Holmes made the further observation that: * * * (J)ust as the clavicle in the cat only tells of the existence of some earlier

creature to which a collarbone was useful, *precedents survive in the law long after the use they once served is at an end and the reason for them has been forgotten*. The result of following them must often be failure and confusion from the merely logical point of view. HOLMES, THE COMMON LAW 35 (1881).” (emphasis added).

Notably, other courts, under similar circumstances as here, have granted Tenant relief, including applying equitable doctrines to fashion equitable relief. *See Egate-95 LLC v. Fitness Int’l, LLC*, 208 A.D.3d 1638, 174 N.Y.S.3d 625 (N.Y. App. Div. 2022) (dismissing landlord’s appeal of trial court order granting Tenant relief based on frustration of purpose of the applicable lease); *SVAP II Pasadena Crossroads, LLC v. Fitness Int’l, LLC*, Case. No. C02-CV-20001258 (Cir. Ct. Anne Arundel Cnty., Md. Jan. 4, 2023) (ordering judgment on Tenant’s counterclaim, including (*inter alia*) based on frustration of purpose and temporary frustration of purpose of the applicable lease); *VEREIT Real Estate, L.P. et al. v. Fitness Int’l, LLC*, Cause No.

DC-20-18444 (Dallas Cnty. 14th Dist. Ct. Aug. 8, 2022) (judgment in favor of Tenant; finding that the purpose of applicable leases was frustrated, and performance was temporarily impossible and impracticable, so Tenant's obligation to pay rent was excused); *Fitness Int'l, LLC v. Brandsmart USA of South Dade Inc.*, Case No. 2021-012878-CA-01 at p. 14 (Cir. Ct. 11th Jud. Cir. Miami-Dade Cnty., Fl. Sept. 19, 2022) ("the equitable doctrines excuse [Tenant's] obligation to pay Rent for the Closure Period"); *Fitness Int'l, LLC v. Vereit Real Estate, L.P.*, Case No. 2020-027207-CA-01 at p. 8 (Cir. Ct. 11th Jud. Cir. Miami-Dade Cnty., Fl. June 8, 2022) ("Insofar as the Force Majeure provision is inapplicable, however, the equitable doctrines yield the same result."); *Nat'l Retail Props., LP v. Fitness Int'l, LLC*, Case. No. 20-01449-CB at pp. 16-17 (Mich. Super. Ct. Cnty. of Wayne Feb. 3, 2022) (finding frustration of purpose excused Tenant's payment of rent).⁴

⁴ Copies of the trial court orders are included at Appendix B-F.

B. The Court Should Grant Review Because the Decision Is Inconsistent with Well-Established Washington Law Concerning Contract Interpretation and Summary Judgment Procedure.

The Court should grant review because the Decision is inconsistent with this Court's long line of decisions regarding the proper method of interpreting contracts and when a breach of contract dispute can be adjudicated at summary judgment.

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