FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/21/2023 4:08 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court Case No. 1018321

(COA No. 84242-1-I)

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FITNESS INTERNATIONAL, LLC, a California limited liability company,

Appellant,

v.

NATIONAL RETAIL PROPERTIES, LP, a Delaware limited partnership,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SNELL & WILMER L.L.P. Amit D. Ranade, WSBA #34878 Mallory L.B. Satre, WSBA #50194 506 Second Avenue, Suite 1400 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 741-1404 aranade@swlaw.com msatre@swlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

III. ARGUMENT

Fitness International's argument begins with a dramatic statement that COVID-19 changed the world forever. But the nexus of this case to the pandemic is not, however, sufficient grounds for Supreme Court Review. Fitness International must demonstrate that this case presents at least one of the four grounds for review listed in RAP 13.4. Fitness International cites two of those grounds, but neither supports further review.

A. This Case Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest that Merits Review by this Court.

Fitness International first relies on RAP 13.4(b)(4), which supports review only if a case "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." Fitness International characterizes two issues as matters of sufficient public interest. Not so.

1. The doctrine of temporary frustration would not lead to a different result on these facts.

First, Fitness International says this case presents an opportunity to adopt <u>Restatement (Second) of Contracts</u> § 269 (1981) on temporary frustration of purpose.² This doctrine suspends performance during a frustration event, but it does not discharge the duty perform or prevent the duty from arising after the frustration has ended, unless performance has become

² Fitness International also refers to <u>Restatements (Second) of</u> <u>Contracts</u> §§ 270 and 272, but it offers no discussion on those two restatements. In briefing to the Court of Appeals, Fitness International cited them only because they are mentioned in the comments to <u>Restatements (Second) of Contracts</u> § 269. They do not provide an independent reason for further review.

materially more burdensome than it would have been absent the frustration. <u>Restatement (Second) of Contracts</u> § 269 (1981).

Whether or not adoption of the doctrine is a good idea, the Court should decline to do so here because its adoption would not lead to a different result. The performance that was frustrated in this case is Fitness International's payment of rent. The purported temporary frustration was the inability to use the Property as Fitness International wished.

The facts material to an application of the temporary frustration doctrine are undisputed. Fitness International paid rent while the first public health order was in effect, so that order did not in fact frustrate its performance. The second order lifted about ten days after National Retail answered this lawsuit, and Fitness International resumed paying rent. The frustration event was completely over just as this litigation got underway. National Retail later obtained a judgment for the rent Fitness International withheld while the second order was in effect. About a month later, Fitness International paid the judgment in full <u>with interest</u>, so it cannot be said that performance was materially more burdensome after the government lifted the orders. This fact pattern does not make good precedent for the adoption of <u>Restatement (Second) of Contracts</u> § 269.

A better fact pattern would involve frustration of a timesensitive service or delivery of perishable goods or a change in circumstance that made performance after the frustrate ended materially more burdensome. A better case would be one in which the trial court entered judgment while the frustration was still in effect. The restatement illustrates an appropriate case:

A contracts with B to build an electric power plant, completion to be within two years, for \$10,000,000. Before the commencement of performance, a shortage of materials due to a sudden outbreak of war makes it temporarily impracticable for A to perform. A's duty is suspended until it is no longer impracticable for him to obtain materials, and he is then under a duty to perform with an appropriate extension of time, ...

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 269 (1981) (Illustration 1,

citing Village of Minn. v. Fairbanks, Morse & Co., 31 N.W.2d

920 (Minn. 1948)). If the Court wants to adopt this restatement, it should wait for a case presenting better facts.

2. The general common law on the doctrines of frustration, impossibility, and impracticability has not changed in ways that require updating Washington law.

Second, Fitness International argues that this case is an opportunity to "update" Washington's law on the doctrines of frustration, impracticability, and impossibility. But it never asserts that the general common law on these doctrines has changed in ways that require an update to Washington law. Fitness International's argument is based solely on the age of some cases cited by the Court of Appeals and the parties including Fitness International. This Court should not treat the mere passage of time as a reason to treat good law as bad.

Moreover, the cases cited below are not all that old. In analyzing Fitness International's frustration defense, the Court of Appeals primarily relied on cases from 1981, 1989, and 1996 to explain that performance "is not excused unless the purpose is 'substantially frustrated.'" *Fitness Int'l*, 524 P.3d at 1064-65 (2023) (internal citations omitted). In analyzing impracticability and impossibility, the Court of Appeals cited cases from 1978, 2004, and 2020. *Id.* at 1065-66 (internal citations omitted). Also, despite its castigation of Prohibition Era cases, Fitness International itself relied on a case from that era. *Id.* at 1065 ("Fitness International relies on...*Brunswick-Balke-Collender Co. v. Seattle Brewing & Malting Co.*, 98 Wash. 12, 14-15, 167 P. 58 (1917)").

Finally, to the extent this Court feels it important for trial courts to have recent binding precedent on these issues, trial courts have it. "Trial courts are bound by published decisions of the Court of Appeals." *Hor v. City of Seattle*, 18 Wn. App. 2d 900, 911, 493 P.3d 151 (2021), *rev. denied*, 198 Wn.2d 1038 (2022). The Court of Appeals published the decision at issue. There is no need to accept review for the sole purpose of updating binding precedent on the doctrines of frustration, impossibility, or impracticability.

B. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Settled Rules of Contract Interpretation and Established Standards for Summary Judgment.

Fitness International also cites RAP 13.4(b)(1), which applies only if "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; …" Fitness International's argument largely repeats its argument on the merits. The argument was flawed then and remains so today.

1. The Court of Appeals construed the Lease as a whole and gave words their ordinary meaning.

Fitness International first attacks the Court of Appeals' contract interpretation. The Court of Appeals correctly recited this Court's precedent on contract interpretation: "The primary goal is to determine the parties' intent." *Fitness Int'l*, 524 P3d at 1061 (citing *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 663, 801 P.2d 222 (1990)). The Court of Appeals determined the parties' intent, as this Court has said, by "focusing on the objective manifestations of the parties in the written contract." *Id.* (citing, *inter alia, Hearst Commc'ns Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503, 115 P.3d 262 (2005)). In doing so,

the Court of Appeals explained that courts "generally give words in a contract their ordinary, usual, and popular meaning unless the entirety of the agreement clearly demonstrates a contrary intent." *Id.* (citing, *inter alia, Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 504). Finally, the Court of Appeals recognized that a contract "should be construed as a whole and, if reasonably possible, in a way that effectuates all of its provisions." *Id.* (citing *Colo. Structures, Inc. v. Ins. Co. of the West*, 161 Wn.2d 577, 588, 167 P.3d 1125 (2007)).

The Court of Appeals correctly applied these settled rules to the specific Lease at issue. Fitness International argues it ignored "the plain language of the Lease" in holding that Fitness International's agreement to comply with government use regulations cannot constitute a breach of National Retail's covenant of quiet enjoyment. (Petition at 23.) Ironically, this argument requires one to ignore the express limitation on the scope the covenant in the Lease: Landlord covenants and warrants that Tenant shall have and enjoy full, quiet, and peaceful possession of the Premises, its appurtenances and all rights and privileges incidental thereto during the term, **subject to the provisions of this Lease** ...

CP 132 § 27.2 (emphasis added). The argument also requires one to ignore other terms in the Lease—namely the provision requiring Fitness International to "comply with all applicable... orders, ...regulating the use by Tenant of the Premises, ..." CP 112 § 9.2. It is Fitness International's reading of the Lease that conflicts with this Court's precedent—not the Court of Appeals' reading.

Fitness International also argues the Court of Appeals ignored the express covenant of quiet enjoyment in the Lease in favor of a generic implied covenant. (Petition at 24-25.) This argument ignores the Court of Appeals' extensive analysis of the express covenant—section 27.2 of the Lease. Reading the Lease as a whole, the Court of Appeals correctly observed that "section 27.2's 'subject to the provisions of this Lease' language effectually incorporates section 9.2, limiting the scope of the covenant to exclude the effects of government regulations." *Fitness Int'l*, 524 P.3d at 1062. The Court of Appeals then held that adherence to section 9.2 of the Lease "cannot now constitute a breach of quiet enjoyment." *Id*.

The lower court's opinion cites real property treatises primarily in *dicta* addressing to Fitness International's assertion that the "covenant" and "warranty" in section 27.2 refer to different promises. *See id.* at 1062-63. Even there, the analysis begins with a clear statement that the terms of the express covenant in the Lease control: "First, any distinction is immaterial because both terms are subject to other provisions of the [L]ease." *Id.* at 1062. The subsequent *dicta* explaining the difference between a "covenant" and "warranty" merely responds to one of Fitness International's primary arguments. That *dicta* is not a reason for further review by this Court.

2. Summary judgment was appropriate because the Lease is unambiguous and the material facts are undisputed.

Finally, Fitness International misconstrues the summary judgment standard in arguing that a summary disposition was inappropriate here. "The interpretation of an unambiguous contract is a question of law and may be resolved on summary judgment." *Matter of Estates of Wahl*, 99 Wn.2d 828, 831, 664 P.2d 1250 (1983). A contract "term will be deemed ambiguous if it is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation." *McLaughlin v. Travelers Commercial Ins. Co.*, 196 Wn.2d 631, 642, 476 P.3d 1032 (2020) (quoting *Holden v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 169 Wash.2d 750, 756, 239 P.3d 344 (2010)).

Fitness International contends that the Lease is ambiguous because Fitness International proffered a reasonable alternative interpretation. Fitness International's interpretation was not reasonable because it violates the rule that a contract "should be construed as a whole and, if reasonably possible, in a way that effectuates all of its provisions." *Colo. Structures*, 161 Wn.2d at 588.

Further, Fitness International has never identified the kind of ambiguity that courts use extrinsic evidence to resolve. Courts may use extrinsic evidence only "to determine the meaning of specific words and terms used" and not to 'show an intention independent of the instrument' or to 'vary, contradict or modify the written word."" Hearst, 154 Wn.2d at 503 (quoting Hollis v. Garwall, Inc., 137 Wn.2d 683, 693, 974 P.2d 836 (1999)) (emphasis in original). The seminal Berg v. Hudesman case is instructive. There, the parties disagreed over the meaning of "gross rentals" in a ground lease. Berg, 115 Wn.2d at 671-72. The term was undefined in the lease itself. Id. at 672. This Court reversed summary judgment and remanded for admission of extrinsic evidence to determine what the parties intended that specific phrase to mean. Id. at 679.

Unlike *Berg*, Fitness International has never attributed a different meaning to a specific word or term in the Lease. Instead, Fitness International simply wanted the lower courts to ignore certain terms outright—namely the phrase "subject to other provisions of the Lease" in section 27.2 and the requirement in section 9.2 that Fitness International "promptly shall comply with all…orders…regulating the use" of the Property. CP 112 § 9.2, 132 § 27.2. That has never been a dispute over the meaning of a specific word or phrase. It has been a dispute over whether cross-references and specific words should be honored or ignored.

The trial court was right to resolve this dispute on summary judgment, and the Court of Appeals was right to affirm. The Court should decline to review the matter further.

IV. REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

National Retail respectfully requests an award of attorney fees and costs in answering Fitness International's petition for review. RAP 18.1(j). "A contractual provision for attorney fees at trial supports an award of fees on appeal under RAP 18.1." *Dragt v. Dragt/DeTray, LLC*, 139 Wn. App. 560, 578, 161 P.3d 473, 483 (2007) *rev. denied* 163 Wn.2d 1042 (2008). The Lease entitles the prevailing party to an award of reasonable attorney fees and costs:

...if any action for breach of or to enforce the provisions of this Lease is commenced, the court in such action shall award to the party in whose favor a judgment is entered, a reasonable sum as attorneys' fees and costs. Such attorneys' fees and costs shall be paid by the losing party in such action.

CP 131 § 25.1. National Retail prevailed in both of the lower courts, and both courts awarded National Retail its fees and costs. *See Fitness Int'l*, 524 P.3d at 1066. This Court should do the same. Should it deny Fitness International's petition, National Retail will file an affidavit in the manner provided in RAP 18.1(d) if the Court awards fees and costs. RAP 18.1(j).

V. CONCLUSION

This case does not present an issue of substantial public interest that merits review by this Court. The facts of this case do not support adoption of the temporary frustration doctrine, and the general common law on frustration, impossibility, and impracticability has not evolved in ways that require an update to Washington law.

Also, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with this Court's precedent. The Court of Appeals correctly applied settled rules of contract interpretation and established standards for summary judgment in a contract dispute.

//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
//
<

Accordingly, National Retail respectfully requests that this Court deny Fitness International's petition for review and award the reasonable attorney fees and costs National Retail has incurred in this appeal.

This document contains 4,165 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.